# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

CALVIN LEONARD SHARP, Petitioner,

v.

THE SUPERIOR COURT OF VENTURA COUNTY.

Respondent,

THE PEOPLE,

Real Party in Interest.

S190646

Ct. App. 2/6 B222025

Ventura County
Super. Ct. NOPREME COURT
FILED

JUN 0 7 2011

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

Deputy

MEDITE 250

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS 25(E

STEPHEN P. LIPSON, Public Defender
By Michael C. McMahon, Chief Deputy
State Bar Certified Specialist – Appellate Law
State Bar Certified Specialist – Criminal Law
SBN 71909
800 S. Victoria Avenue, HOJ-207
Ventura, California 93009
(805) 477 - 7114
michael.mcmahon@ventura.org
Attorney for Petitioner
CALVIN LEONARD SHARP

#### Discussion

I.

In 2009, no existing provision of law addressed procedures for the evaluation of a defendant's mental condition in a case in which the defendant did not enter a plea of "not guilty by reason of insanity."

In 2009, a defendant in a criminal case could enter a plea of "not guilty" and present evidence tending to show his mental condition affected his guilt. (See, *People v. Steele* (2002) 27 Cal.4th 1230, 1253 [a defendant may present evidence that an extreme emotional disturbance or other mental condition negated a state of mind required as an element of a charged offense].) For example, evidence of mental disease, disorder, or defect is admissible on the issue of whether the defendant actually formed an unlawful intent to kill, that is, whether the defendant actually harbored express malice. (*People v. Saille* (1991) 4 Cal. 3d 1103, 1116.) Such evidence could include testimony from a mental health expert, who had interviewed and evaluated the defendant.

As a matter of federal due process, if a crime requires a particular mental state, the Legislature may not deny a defendant the opportunity to prove he did not harbor that state. (*In re Winship* (1970) 97 U.S. 358; *Mullaney v. Wilbur* (1975) 421 U.S. 684.)

Nevertheless, no then-existing provision of law allowed for any court-ordered evaluation of the defendant's mental condition at the time of the charged offense. (*Verdin v. Superior Court* (2008) 43 Cal.4th 1096 (*Verdin*). Many concluded that this gave the defendant an unfair advantage at trial.

In contrast, California had very different procedures in place for cases in which a defendant entered a plea of "not guilty by reason of insanity. (Pen. Code, § 1016.) In such cases, court-ordered examinations of the defendant are addressed by Penal Code section 1027 and are mandatory. Section 1027 has been in the code since 1929, and was last amended in 1981. (Stats. 1981. c. 787, p. 3057, § 1.) The purpose of section 1027 is to mandate court-ordered examinations of the defendant to aid and assist the court and jury in the determination of the sanity issue. (*People v. Lee* (1930) 108 Cal.App. 609, 612.) Nothing precludes the prosecution from requesting that specific experts be appointed or that the experts administer specific psychological tests or instruments. Such requests and suggestions can be extremely helpful because the forensic and custodial settings differ greatly from regular clinical practice.

Subdivision (d) of section 1027 requires judicial approval of fees payable to expert witnesses called by the prosecution. It states that, "Nothing contained in this section shall be deemed or construed to prevent any party to any criminal action from producing any other expert evidence with respect to the mental status of the defendant; where expert witnesses are called by the district attorney in such action, they shall only be entitled to such witness fees as may be allowed by the court."

### H.

Penal Code section 1054.3, as amended effective January 1, 2010, does not alter the existing provisions of law regarding court-ordered examinations of criminal defendants in proceedings to determine sanity.

In *Verdin*, this court stayed and then reviewed an order directing a criminal defendant to grant access for purposes of a mental examination, not to a court-appointed mental health expert, but to an expert retained by the prosecution. The court held that "the trial court's order granting the prosecution access to petitioner for purposes of having a prosecution expert conduct a mental examination is a form of

discovery that is not authorized by the criminal discovery statutes or any other statute, nor is it mandated by the United States Constitution. (*Id.*, at p. 1116.)

Verdin presented no issue involving proceedings following a plea of "not guilty by reason of insanity." The court expressed "no opinion" regarding cases "that involve a plea of not guilty by reason of insanity," noting that such cases are addressed by the existing provisions of section 1027. (Id., at p. 1107, fn. 4.)

After conceding that the opinion did not purport to resolve "complicated" and "complex" constitutional questions, the court observed that the Legislature remained free to establish such a rule of discovery within constitutional limits. (*Id.*, at p. 1116, fn 9.)

The Legislature chose to do so by amending the criminal discovery statutes, specifically, section 1054.3, which specifies the information to be disclosed by the defendant to the prosecution.

Effective January 1, 2010, that section was amended by adding a new subdivision (b), which states:

- "(b) (1) Unless otherwise specifically addressed by an existing provision of law, whenever a defendant in a criminal action or a minor in a juvenile proceeding brought pursuant to a petition alleging the juvenile to be within Section 602 of the Welfare and Institutions Code places in issue his or her mental state at any phase of the criminal action or juvenile proceeding through the proposed testimony of any mental health expert, upon timely request by the prosecution, the court may order that the defendant or juvenile submit to examination by a prosecution-retained mental health expert.
- (A) The prosecution shall bear the cost of any such mental health expert's fees for examination and testimony at a criminal trial or juvenile court proceeding.

- (B) The prosecuting attorney shall submit a list of tests proposed to be administered by the prosecution expert to the defendant in a criminal action or a minor in a juvenile proceeding. At the request of the defendant in a criminal action or a minor in a juvenile proceeding, a hearing shall be held to consider any objections raised to the proposed tests before any test is administered. Before ordering that the defendant submit to the examination, the trial court must make a threshold determination that the proposed tests bear some reasonable relation to the mental state placed in issue by the defendant in a criminal action or a minor in a juvenile proceeding. For the purposes of this subdivision, the term "tests" shall include any and all assessment techniques such as a clinical interview or a mental status examination.
- (2) The purpose of this subdivision is to respond to *Verdin v. Superior Court* 43 Cal.4th 1096, which held that only the Legislature may authorize a court to order the appointment of a prosecution mental health expert when a defendant has placed his or her mental state at issue in a criminal case or juvenile proceeding pursuant to Section 602 of the Welfare and Institutions Code. Other than authorizing the court to order testing by prosecution-retained mental health experts in response to *Verdin v. Superior Court, supra*, it is not the intent of the Legislature to disturb, in any way, the remaining body of case law governing the procedural or substantive law that controls the administration of these tests or the admission of the results of these tests into evidence. (Emphasis added.)

Petitioner contends that the limitation "Unless otherwise specifically addressed by an existing provision of law," refers to existing provisions of law, such as

Title 6, Chap. 4, §1026, et seq. of the Penal Code, which addresses examinations into the sanity of the defendant following a plea of not guilty by reason of insanity.

As a measured legislative response to the court's holding in *Verdin*, the amendment was not intended to amend or repeal by implication the state's long-existing scheme for litigation of the issue of sanity. The Legislature's caution is understandable given the legitimate concern that any procedural changes must comply with due process and other constitutional rights and privileges.

#### III.

Section 1027, and section 1054.3, subdivision (b), are not statutes in pari materia, because the latter expressly does not apply when its otherwise applicable procedures are specifically addressed by an existing provision of law.

Generally, statutes in pari materia should be construed together so that all parts of the statutory scheme are given effect. (*Lexin v. Superior Court* (2010) 47 Cal.4th 1050, 1090-1091.) However, because the 2010 amendment does not purport to modify or repeal the procedures spelled out in section 1027, the doctrine of construing statutes in pari materia does not apply.

Section 1027 could have been amended to allow for the appointment of a qualified mental health expert selected and paid by the prosecution. Clearly, the Legislature chose not to do so, and amendments by implication are disfavored. (*Cacho v. Boudreau* (2007) 40 Cal.4th 341, 352.)

Section 1054.3, subdivision (b), was merely written to respond to the situation presented in *Verdin*: when a defendant presents a mental defense at the guilt or penalty phase of a criminal trial, and no "existing provision of law" allows for the appointment of an expert to examine the defendant and respond to the testimony of a defense expert. Abridging the rights of the defendant was not a viable option. As long as a specific state of mind is a necessary element of an offense, a defendant cannot be

prohibited from presenting relevant evidence raising a doubt about whether that state of mind was present.<sup>1</sup>

When broad application of a statute is intended, the section often begins, "Notwithstanding any other provision of law,...." For example, section 3003.5, a statute setting forth restrictions on where certain sex offenders subject to the lifetime registration requirement of section 290 may reside, includes that language. Health & Safety Code, section 11362.5, does as well, to provide physicians immunity for recommending marijuana to a patient for medical purposes. The new amendment to section 1054.3 could have stated that it applied "notwithstanding any other provision of law."

But here, the Legislature included specific limiting language to leave unchanged all situations specifically addressed by an existing provision of law. Effect must be given to that unusual limitation.

#### IV.

While it may be unfair to the state to permit a defendant to use psychiatric testimony without allowing the state some means to rebut that testimony, section 1027 is sufficient to protect the rights of the People. The United States Supreme Court has never ruled that the prosecution has a right to an examination by a prosecution-retained expert, or to use in evidence statements the defendant made about the crimes with which he was charged.

In Estelle v. Smith (1981) 451 U.S. 454 (Smith), the United States Supreme Court held that the penalty phase admission of testimony from a psychiatrist who examined the defendant to determine his competence to stand trial violated his Fifth

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Mental health experts are less important in the guilt phase of a trial in the wake of various amendments to the Penal Code which expressly eliminated the "diminished capacity" defense (Pen. Code,§§ 25, 28) and Penal Code section 29, which severely limits expert testimony about the defendant's mental status.

Amendment privilege against compelled self-incrimination because he was not advised prior to the psychiatric examination that he had a right to remain silent and that any statement he made could be used against him at sentencing proceedings. (Id., at 461-69.)

In *Smith*, the court did not decide any issues regarding prosecution examinations in sanity trials, but noted that some Circuit courts had done so and, in dicta, suggested that the State might be entitled to some effective means of controverting defense evidence on an issue that the defense has interjected into the case. (Id., at p. 465.) In California, section 1027 provides an very effective and economical means of controverting defense evidence through the appointment of independent experts. *Smith* does not control here.

In *Buchanan v. Kentucky* (1987) 483 U.S. 402, the High Court held that if a defendant requests a psychiatric examination in order to prove a mental-status defense, he waives the right to raise a Fifth Amendment challenge to the prosecution's use of evidence obtained through that examination to rebut the defense. (Id., at pp. 422-423; see also *Powell v. Texas* (1989) 492 U.S. 680, 683-84.) *Buchanan* does not control here.

California's existing statutory provisions for the litigation of sanity adequately protect the rights of the prosecution. Nothing in section 1054.3 purports to modify or amend the existing provisions of law regarding sanity.

Similarly, nothing in *People v. McPeters* (1992) 2 Cal.4th 1148, authorizes an examination by a prosecution-retained expert on the issue of sanity. In that case, the court was concerned about an "unfair tactical advantage to defendants, who could, with impunity, present mental defenses at the penalty phase, secure in the assurance they could not be rebutted by expert testimony based on an actual psychiatric examination." (Id., at p. 1190) Here, the existing provisions of section 1027 ensure that defense evidence may be rebutted by expert testimony based upon multiple psychiatric examinations.

### Conclusion

Because the selection and appointment of experts to examine a defendant upon a plea of not guilty by reason of insanity is "specifically addressed" by the existing

provisions of Penal Code section 1027, section 1054.3 subdivision (b) does not apply. Based upon the expressed statement of legislative intent and the plain meaning of the 2010 amendment, it does not change existing provisions of law regarding the evaluation, assessment, and determination of sanity.