# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

CALVIN LEONARD SHARP,	) COURT NO. <b>S190646</b>
Petitioner, vs.	) )(Court of Appeal: B222025)
SUPERIOR COURT OF VENTURA COUNTY,	)(Superior Court No. 2008014330)
Respondent; THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA.	SUPREME COURT  FILED
Real Party in Interest.	) ) JUL <b>0 6</b> 2011
	Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

# ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Deputy

Hon. Kevin G. DeNoce Judge of the Ventura County Superior Court

GREGORY D. TOTTEN
District Attorney
LISA O. LYYTIKAINEN SB# 180458
Senior Deputy District Attorney
800 South Victoria Avenue
Ventura, CA 93009

Telephone (805) 654-2710

Attorney for Real Party in Interest

#### **ISSUE ON REVIEW**

Does Penal Code section 1054.3, subdivision (b), as amended effective January 1, 2010, alter the existing provisions of law regarding court-ordered examinations of criminal defendants in sanity proceedings, specifically Penal Code<sup>1</sup> sections 1026<sup>2</sup> and 1027?

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> All further statutory references are to the Penal Code unless otherwise specified.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Section 1026 does not control the use of experts for purposes of compelled mental examinations in the determination of insanity therefore the People will focus on the purview of section 1027.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case reviews a writ of mandate/prohibition regarding the application of the January 1, 2010 amendment to section 1054.3, subdivision (b) in insanity proceedings.

Petitioner Calvin Leonard Sharp pled guilty to special circumstances murder of a child with the use of a meat cleaver, attempted premeditated murder and aggravated mayhem of two additional victims, and animal cruelty coupled with a plea of not guilty by reason of insanity. He waived jury for the sanity trial. (Exhibit G, p. 109.<sup>3</sup>) Sanity is the only issue remaining before the trial court. The verdict on this issue will determine whether petitioner is sentenced to prison for life without parole, or will be committed to a mental hospital and be subject to release back into the community.

In addition to the two experts appointed pursuant to section 1027, the defense has retained four experts who have examined petitioner. (Exhibits: E; F, pp. 10, 75–76.) None of these experts has administered the MMPI-2, which clearly may be relevant to the important issue of sanity that the court must decide. (Exhibit B, p. 5, Il. 1-15.)

On January 1, 2010, the amendment to section 1054.3(b) became effective. The People filed a motion to compel petitioner to submit to a mental health examination by a prosecution retained expert pursuant to the amendment. In

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Exhibits referred to herein were filed in the Court of Appeal as follows: exhibits with letter designations attached to the Verified Petition for Writ of Mandate/Prohibition.

particular the People proposed the MMPI-2, SIRS and a clinical interview be conducted by our expert. (Exhibits: B and C.) The trial court granted the motion. (Exhibit G, p. 114.)

Petitioner filed a petition for writ of prohibition/mandate in the Court of Appeal. The petition was summarily denied. He then filed a Petition for Review in this court. Review was granted and the matter remanded to the Court of Appeal with direction to issue an order to show cause. The Court of Appeal issued the order to show cause. A Return was filed by Real Party in Interest and a Reply by Petitioner. The Court of Appeal denied the writ in a published opinion. (*Sharp v. Superior Court* (2011) 191 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> 1280, opn. vacated by grant of review<sup>4</sup>.) Petitioner thereafter filed a Petition for Review which was granted on May 5, 2011.

#### **ARGUMENT**

Penal Code section 1054.3, subdivision (b) as amended effective January 1, 2010, permits compelled examinations of a defendant by prosecution-retained expert when the defendant places his mental state in issue. The amendment does not alter the existing provisions of law regarding court-ordered examinations of criminal defendants in sanity proceedings because section 1027 establishes a procedure for the *appointment* of mental health experts in insanity cases. It does not specifically address, direct or control, court-ordered mental health

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Because the Opinion authored by the Court of Appeal is part of the record in the current matter, it will hereinafter be referred to as "Court of Appeal Opinion".

examinations by *retained* experts, as clearly pronounced in subdivision (d). The amendment operates alongside section 1027 and brings the process for the determination of mental defense cases back into the parameters of California's reciprocal discovery scheme.

I.

### SECTION 1054.3(b) RESTORES THE PEOPLE'S RIGHT TO RECIPROCAL DISCOVERY IN THE CONTEXT OF MENTAL DEFENSE CASES

In 2008, this Court held that the People had no right to a compelled mental examination of a defendant by a prosecution retained expert because the examination is a form of discovery not authorized by statute or mandated by the Constitution. (*Verdin v. Superior Court* (2008) 43 Cal.4<sup>th</sup> 1096.) In response to the holding in *Verdin*, the Legislature enacted section 1054.3(b)(1) – (2), effective January 1, 2010, as the statutory tether for this form of discovery.

Section 1054.3(b)(1) provides in part that "[u]nless otherwise specifically addressed by an existing provision of law, whenever a defendant in a criminal action...places in issue his or her mental state at any phase of the criminal action...through the proposed testimony of any mental health expert, upon timely request by the prosecution, the court may order that the defendant...submit to examination by a prosecution-retained mental health expert."

As the Court of Appeal in this matter notes in its opinion, the legislative history of the amendment reveals that the intent was to restore reciprocal discovery rights regarding compelled mental examinations in mental defense

cases. (Court of Appeal Opinion, p. 8.) "It is imperative when defendants claim a mental defense that they are subject to a mental health examination by a prosecution expert. This right of the prosecution to examine the defendant above their consent has been recognized in case law for over 35 years. However, recently the California Supreme Court overturned the prosecution's entitlement to a court order because Proposition 115 failed to include such a discovery right. AB 1516 restores this right by ensuring that the merits of the defendant's claim be independently verified and guarantees that prosecutor can properly ensure justice for victims." (Assem. Floor. Analysis of Assem. Bill No. 1516 (2009-2010 Reg. Sess.) as amended July 16, 2009. [copy included in our Motion for Judicial Notice].)

For the People to verify, and when appropriate, challenge a mental defense claim, we must be able to effectively test the foundation, reliability and formulation of the defense experts' opinions.

"A trial is a search for the truth." (*People v. Harris* (1998) 60 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> 727, 733.) The amendment to section 1054.3(b) built in procedural safeguards to ensure that the compelled examinations are pertinent to the mental defense raised by the defendant.

Section 1054.3(b)(1)(B) reads in part:

The prosecuting attorney shall submit a list of tests proposed

to be administered by the prosecution expert to the defendant in a criminal action...a hearing shall be held to consider any objections raised to the proposed tests before any test is administered. Before ordering that the defendant submit to the examination, the trial court must make a threshold determination that the proposed tests bear some reasonable relation to the mental state placed in issue by the defendant in a criminal action...

#### (Emphasis added.)

The language of the amendment ensures that the discovery being requested by the People is relevant to an issue raised by the defendant. In the context of a plea of not guilty by reason of insanity, tests designed to unearth personality disorders are highly relevant.<sup>5</sup> Statutorily a personality disorder, in and of itself, cannot form the basis for insanity. (§ 25.5.) Once a defendant places his mental state in issue by pleading not guilty by reason of insanity, the finder of fact should be permitted to hear relevant evidence to correctly assess that issue. To exclude 1054.3(b) from application in sanity proceedings would contradict the legislative intent to restore reciprocal discovery to the People in the context of mental defense cases and ensure the pursuit of justice for the victims.

In the context of both competency and mental retardation determinations, courts have held compelled examinations by prosecution-retained experts are

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> In the current matter, the People's proposed examinations include the MMPI-2 (designed to unearth personality disorders), SIRS (determine feigning/malingering) and a clinical interview. Petitioner instructed the experts "not to conduct testing like the MMPI, unless necessary for the doctors to form their opinion...because the results were often subject to wide ranging interpretations that often became the subject of fractious litigation." (Exhibit E, p. 50, ll. 4-11.) Neither the two court appointed experts, nor the

necessary to appropriately challenge the opinions of both court-appointed and defense-retained experts. (See Baqleh v. Superior Court (2002) 100 Cal.App.4th 478, 489; Centeno v. Superior Court (2004) 117 Cal.App.4th 30, 40.) In Bagleh, the court compelled the defendant to submit to an examination by a prosecutionretained expert in the context of a competency hearing pursuant to section 1369. The Baqleh court said, "[C]onsidering that a party that wished to dispute the opinion of a court-appointed expert would be unable to do so effectively without the use of its own expert...It is hard to imagine that the Legislature intended the parties to be able to retain such experts but to permit the defense to deny the prosecution's experts access to the individual whose competence is at issue, so that they could not credibly dispute the opinions of defense experts given full access to that person." (Baqleh v. Superior Court, supra, 100 Cal.App.4th at p. 489.) The court went on to note that to deny the People's expert access to the defendant would unfairly obstruct the truth-finding process. (Id. at p. 490.)

The People's rights to discovery and the duty to pursue justice are not sufficiently protected by the appointment of court experts pursuant to section 1027, as suggested by petitioner.

Appointed experts are agents of the court, not of the parties or their attorneys. (*People v. Lines* (1975) 13 Cal.3d 500, 515.)

four defense retained experts administered the MMPI-2 to petitioner. (Exhibit B: p. 5, ll. 1-15; Exhibit F: p. 75, l. 27 - p. 76, ll.1-10, 25-28, p. 77, ll.1-2.)

### Section 1027 reads in pertinent part:

- (a) When a defendant pleads not guilty by reason of insanity the court must select and appoint two, and may select and appoint three, psychiatrists, or licenses psychologists...to examine the defendant and investigate his mental status. It is the duty of the psychiatrists or psychologists so selected and appointed by the court to make the examination and the investigation, and to testify whenever summoned...
- (b) Any report made on the examination and investigation made pursuant to subdivision (a) shall include, but not be limited to, the psychological history of the defendant, the facts surrounding the commission of the acts forming the basis for the present charge used by the psychiatrists or psychologists in making his examination of the defendant, and the present psychological or psychiatric symptoms of the defendant, if any.

Section 1027 requires the court appoint two or three independent experts to "make the examination and investigation and to testify when summoned." (§1027(a).) It does not require any particularized testing be given. And, unfortunately, that is the net effect, little to no testing is conducted by the court appointed experts. (Exhibit F, pp. 75-76, 78.) The object of a procedure focusing on court-appointed experts is to remove the possible bias which may influence the employment of experts by the parties to the action. (*People v. Carskaddon* (1932) 123 Cal.App. 177, 180.) Court-appointed psychiatrist/psychologists are designed to be independent experts. Petitioner's suggestion that the People should attempt to dictate which doctors are to be appointed and direct which tests are to be completed by the court-appointed experts would result in the those doctors inappropriately becoming defacto People's experts.

The factual scenario in the present case is a perfect example of why and how the court-appointed experts do not sufficiently protect the rights of the People to reciprocal discovery and the truth-finding process in our adversarial system. In the current matter, the court-appointed experts conducted no testing, with the exception of one limited test for malingering. They relied on defense expert materials in addition to a clinical interview. (Exhibit F, pp. 75-76, 78.) Because section 1027 does not mandate any particularized testing there is no guarantee the court-appointed experts will administer any testing whatsoever. Without testing to either validate or challenge the defense experts' opinions the People's right to discovery and our duty to pursue justice in our adversarial system are significantly hindered. A plea of not guilty by reason of insanity squarely places the defendant's mental state in issue. The legislative intent of the amendment to restore reciprocal discovery in the context of mental defense cases and to pursue justice for the victims is consistent with and furthered by application of section 1054.3(b) in sanity proceedings.

П.

## **SECTION 1054.3(b) OPERATES ALONGSIDE SECTION 1027**

The introductory phrase to section 1054.3(b)(1), "unless otherwise specifically addressed by an existing provision of law," is unique statutory language. The objective of statutory interpretation is to ascertain and effect legislative intent, and in doing so the court generally looks first at the "plain meaning" of the words used. (People v. Woodhead (1987) 43 Cal.3d 1002, 1007,

citing *People v. Overstreet* (1986) 42 Cal.3d 891, 895.) When statutory language is clear and unambiguous, there is no need for further analysis, nor is there a need to resort to "indicia of the intent of the Legislature." (*Lungren v. Deukmejian* (1988) 45 Cal.3d 727, 735.) However, the "'plain meaning' rule does not prohibit a court from determining whether the literal meaning of a statute comports with its purpose" and provisions relating to the same subject matter must be construed together and "harmonized to the extent possible." (*Ibid.*)

Recognizing the phraseology "specifically addressed" as unique limiting language, the Court of Appeal in this matter interpreted the phrase to mean "unless otherwise specifically *provided* by an existing provision of law." (Court of Appeal Opinion, p. 6.) The People agree with this interpretation. When read with such meaning, the introductory phrase does not exclude application of the amendment in sanity proceedings and importantly comports with the legislative intent to restore reciprocal discovery rights to the People in mental defense cases.

Section 1027 specifically establishes a procedure for the *appointment* of mental health experts in insanity cases. It does not address or provide a procedure for, or control the use of, retained experts.

Subdivision (d) of section 1027 clearly announces that the statute does not control the use of retained experts. It states in part:

Nothing contained in this section shall be deemed or construed to prevent any party to any criminal action from producing any other expert evidence with respect to the mental state of the defendant...

This subdivision contemplates the retention of experts by either or both parties in addition to those appointed by the court. Importantly the subdivision declares that nothing in section 1027 shall be construed to be the exclusive means of expert evidence in sanity proceedings.

Prior to Verdin, this Court decided People v. Coddington (2000) 23 Cal.4th 529. In Coddington, the defendant was charged with multiple counts of murder and forcible sex crimes. He pled not guilty by reason of insanity. The defense retained multiple experts and the court appointed two experts pursuant to section 1027. In determining whether the prosecutor had committed error by a series of questions that suggested that the People had no right to have an examination performed of the defendant, this court said, "the questions and the answers he elicited conveyed that impression and thereby conveyed an erroneous impression of the law... the prosecutor could have requested that the defendant submit to an examination." (People v. Coddington, supra, 23 Cal.4th at 612; emphasis added.) While Verdin disapproved of the holding in Coddington, it did so on the grounds that a mental examination was a form of discovery not authorized by statute or the Constitution. The enactment of section 1054.3(b) rectified the vacancy of legal authority for this form of discovery. This Court's acknowledgement in Coddington that the People could in fact request a compelled mental examination is a clear statement that the provisions of section 1027 are not the exclusive means of compelled mental examinations in sanity proceedings.

Section 1027 specifically addresses the procedures for the appointment of experts. It does not specifically address the procedure for, or the use of, retained experts, nor does it limit the courts ability to compel examinations beyond those conducted by court appointed experts. As such the introductory phrase to section 1054.3(b) does not operate to exclude application of the amendment in sanity proceedings. Rather, when harmonized, the statutes operate alongside one another. To find otherwise would frustrate the legislative intent of the amendment.

#### **CONCLUSION**

Section 1027 does not specifically address the procedure for, or the use of, retained mental health experts. As such, the amendment to section 1054.3(b) operates alongside the provisions of section 1027 and is applicable in sanity proceedings. The amendment does not alter the existing provisions for compelled mental examinations by court appointed experts set forth in section 1027. Moreover, application of the amendment in sanity proceedings is consistent with, and furthers the legislative intent to restore reciprocal discovery rights to the People when mental defenses are raised and ensures our ability to pursue justice for victims.